## In the Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia

Docket No. 23-69

ICA EFiled: Apr 20 2023 11:52AM EDT

Transaction ID 69860354

KAPITUS SERVICING, INC. formerly known as COLONIAL FUNDING NETWORK, INC., as authorized servicing agent for First US Funding,

Plaintiff / Petitioner,

ν.

TUCKER COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT BUSINESS DIVISION CIVIL ACTION NO. 22-C-4 PRESIDING: JUDGE LORENSEN

TIMBERLINE FOUR SEASONS
UTILITIES INC. AND CANAAN VALLEY
PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT,
individually, and in its capacity as
RECEIVER OF TIMBERLINE FOUR
SEASONS UTILITIES INC.,

Defendants / Respondents.

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Ancil G. Ramey (W. Va. Bar No. 3013)
Sarah C. Ellis (W. Va. Bar No. 10434)

#### I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred by failing to afford *res judicata* to the Bankruptcy Court's Orders.
- 2. Even if the Bankruptcy Court's Orders were not entitled to claim preclusion, the Circuit Court erred by failing to afford issue preclusion to the factual findings and legal conclusions contained therein, issues fatal to Timberline Utilities' defense.
- 3. To the extent that it so held, the Circuit Court erred by holding that Timberline Utilities' strategic dismissal of its bankruptcy proceedings somehow invalidated the Bankruptcy Court's Orders or stripped them of their preclusive effect.
- 4. Although it would be wholly improper to even *ask* whose application of *Lockard* was better reasoned (just like it was improper for the Circuit Court to re-conduct the *Lockard* analysis at all), were this Court to do so, the Circuit Court's application was clearly erroneous.
- 5. Kapitus did not waive its right to argue that *res judicata* applied to the Bankruptcy Court's Order by electing not to participate in the PSC proceeding.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kapitus Servicing, Inc. (formerly known as Colonial Funding Network, Inc.) ("Kapitus"), in its capacity as Authorized Servicing Agent for First US Funding, brought suit in the Circuit Court of Tucker County against Respondents, Timberline Four Seasons Utilities Inc. ("Timberline Utilities") and Canaan Valley Public Service District (individually, and in its capacity as receiver of Timberline Utilities) ("CVPSD"), based on contractual obligations under the Revenue Based Factoring ("RBF/ACH") Agreement and Security Agreement and Personal Guaranty ("Agreement") between Kapitus, Timberline Utilities, and Timberline Four Seasons Resort Management Company, Inc.<sup>1</sup>

\_

See generally Kapitus Servicing, Inc.'s Verified Compl., JA12–135 ("Ver. Compl.").

Timberline Utilities (among others) had voluntarily entered the Agreement with Kapitus on April 28, 2017, in order to induce Kapitus to advance \$130,000 to Timberline Utilities and its affiliates.<sup>2</sup> In exchange, Timberline Utilities promised Kapitus Timberline Utilities' "future receipts, accounts, contract rights and other obligations arising from or relating to the payment of monies" from Timberline Utilities' "customers' and/or third-party payors" (the "Purchased Receivables").

Timberline Utilities also made the following material representations and warranties—representations that Kapitus later learned were materially false:

- 1. That Timberline Utilities was in good financial condition and not insolvent.
- 2. That Timberline Utilities obtained all necessary governmental approvals to enter the Agreement.
- 3. That Timberline Utilities was authorized to enter the Agreement.
- 4. That Timberline Utilities would not enter into any other purchase or security agreement related to the Purchased Receivables.
- 5. That Timberline Utilities had good and marketable title to all Purchased Receivables, free and clear of all liabilities and liens.

*Id.* at ¶ 15, JA18–19.

On or about May 1, 2017, Kapitus fulfilled its obligations under the Agreement by advancing the purchase price to Timberline Utilities (less certain fees).<sup>4</sup> Initially, Timberline Utilities made payments under the Agreement. From on or about May 2 through June 28, 2017,

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶¶ 12–13, JA17–18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 13, JA18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 18, JA20.

Timberline Utilities made total payments to Kapitus of \$42,794.<sup>5</sup> However, Timberline Utilities ceased making payments at the end of June 2017, thereby breaching the Agreement.<sup>6</sup>

Due at least in part to fraudulent conduct and mismanagement, Timberline Utilities then filed for bankruptcy.<sup>7</sup> Kapitus filed a Proof of Claim (on June 11, 2021) and an Amended Proof of Claim (on August 2, 2021) (collectively the "Proof of Claim") in Timberline Utilities' bankruptcy case.<sup>8</sup> Timberline Utilities objected to Kapitus' Proof of Claim, and the parties engaged in significant and substantive briefing on the Proof of Claim's merits.<sup>9</sup>

The United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of West Virginia ("Bankruptcy Court") ultimately ruled in Kapitus's favor, holding that the Proof of Claim was valid and secured.<sup>10</sup> Specifically, the Bankruptcy Court further ordered that the Agreement is enforceable and that Kapitus has a security interest in Timberline Utilities' accounts receivable.<sup>11</sup> Finally, the Bankruptcy Court made the following factual findings and conclusions of law:

- 1. Timberline Utilities may not gain the benefit of an Agreement while simultaneously voiding its obligations under that same Agreement.
- 2. The Agreement was in the public interest.
- 3. The Agreement was voidable at Kapitus's discretion and may be enforced.
- 4. Kapitus had a valid security interest in the accounts receivable of Timberline Utilities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 19, JA20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶¶ 19–21, JA20–21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 42, JA27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 43, JA27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 43, JA27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 52, JA30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 49, JA28.

5. Voiding the Agreement would grant an inequitable financial windfall to Timberline Utilities (and now, CVPSD).

See id. at ¶¶ 49-50, JA28-29.

While Timberline Utilities' bankruptcy case was pending, the West Virginia Public Service Commission ("PSC") nominally—but orchestrated by counsel for Timberline Utilities<sup>12</sup>—moved the Bankruptcy Court to lift the stay so that the PSC could "investigate" the Agreement.<sup>13</sup> The Bankruptcy Court granted the PSC's motion, <sup>14</sup> but during the December 15, 2021 hearing on the PSC's motion, the Bankruptcy Court held that Kapitus's claim against Timberline Utilities is valid and enforceable *regardless of the PSC's investigation into the validity of the Agreement* and that the Bankruptcy Court's Orders were final and enforceable.<sup>15</sup> There is, therefore, *no question* that the Bankruptcy Court intended Kapitus's claim against Timberline Utilities to be valid, its Orders final, and both enforceable.<sup>16</sup>

In an effort to disappear the Bankruptcy Court's holdings, Timberline Utilities repeatedly moved the Bankruptcy Court to reconsider its decision. But those attempts were unsuccessful. But those attempts were

Martin Sheehan, counsel for Timberline Utilities, also represented the Receiver, Canaan Valley Public Service District ("CVPSD"), which stood to personally gain from rendering the Agreement void. *See infra* note 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 51, JA29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 52, JA30.

Ver. Compl. ¶¶ 52–53, JA30. ECF No. 114, Case No. 2:21-bk-00125; Bankruptcy Court's December 15, 2021, Audio Tr., at 40:25—41:18. All references to the United States Courts' Case Management/Electronic Case Files numbers herein ("ECF No.") are to Case No. 2:21-bk-00125.

In fact, as noted below, Respondents concede that the Bankruptcy Court's Orders were a final adjudication in previous briefing. (*See infra* at 9 n.33.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Ver. Compl. ¶ 54, JA30.

CVPSD, the Receiver, also stood to reap a windfall upon the denial of Kapitus's claim since it would take the business free and clear of the Agreement without any consideration. With this in mind,

With the Bankruptcy Court's denials, Timberline Utilities dismissed its bankruptcy case, believing that the dismissal would "undo" the Bankruptcy Court's Orders. <sup>19</sup> As demonstrated below, however, the dismissal failed to effect the Bankruptcy Court's Orders.

On March 7, 2022, with a valid Proof of Claim and the Bankruptcy Court's favorable Orders enforcing the Agreement, Kapitus filed suit in the Circuit Court of Tucker County seeking damages of \$325,784.16.<sup>20</sup>

After Kapitus filed the instant case, the PSC concluded its investigation of the Agreement and, on April 10, 2022, entered its order discussing its investigation and purportedly voiding Kapitus's Agreement with Timberline Utilities (the "PSC order").<sup>21</sup> As noted, however, the Bankruptcy Court had already stated unequivocally that the Agreement is in the public interest and enforceable, *regardless of the PSC's investigation*.<sup>22</sup>

Believing itself to be armed with the (legally impotent) PSC order, Timberline Utilities filed a motion to dismiss Kapitus's Verified Complaint, arguing that the Agreement is not enforceable pursuant to the PSC order—*i.e.*, exactly what the Bankruptcy Court had already rejected and decided against.<sup>23</sup> On December 20, 2022, despite Kapitus's opposition and the clear applicability of *res judicata* to the Bankruptcy Court's Orders, the Circuit Court

Timberline Utilities and CVPSD orchestrated the PSC investigation in an effort to dispose of Kapitus's valid and enforceable claim.

See generally Kapitus Servicing, Inc.'s Verified Compl., JA12–135.

<sup>19</sup> *Id* 

See Defs.' Mot. to Dismiss & Mem. of Law in Supp., JA140–141 (discussing and attaching Recommended Decision of the Public Service Commission as Ex. 1, JA151–162).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> ECF No. 114; Bankruptcy Court's December 15, 2021, Audio Tr., at 40:25—41:18.

See generally id., JA136–194.

erroneously granted Timberline Utilities' Motion to Dismiss as to Count I of the Verified Complaint, Kapitus's breach of contract claim against Timberline Utilities.<sup>24</sup>

By dismissing Kapitus's breach of contract claim, the Circuit Court erred as a matter of law and committed reversible error. Kapitus timely filed its Notice of Appeal seeking reversal of the erroneous December 20, 2022, order.<sup>25</sup>

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Tucker County Circuit Court erred as a matter of law by granting in part Timberline Utilities' Motion to Dismiss, practically ignoring the Bankruptcy Court's clear and unequivocal prior holding that the Agreement between Kapitus and Timberline Utilities is valid and enforceable—regardless of the outcome of the PSC's "investigation." Both Kapitus and Timberline Utilities thoroughly briefed and argued before the Bankruptcy Court the precise issue of whether their Agreement was valid and enforceable. After reviewing the briefings and conducting a hearing, the Bankruptcy Court explicitly held that the Agreement is valid and enforceable, irrespective of any PSC findings. And that holding was incorporated in the Bankruptcy Court's final Order. The Tucker County Circuit Court erroneously failed to apply the Bankruptcy Court's clear directive and improperly provided Timberline Utilities with an illicit opportunity to relitigate a final decision on the merits of the action. Kapitus therefore seeks reversal of the Circuit Court's decision and requests this Court to hold that the Bankruptcy Court's Orders are entitled to *res judicata* and remand the case for conformity with such holding.

6

See Entered Order Granting in Part, and Denying in Part, Defs.' Mot. to Dismiss, JA1–10 ("Cir. Ct. Order").

See Notice of Appeal, JA473–498.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This appeal presents an issue proper for oral argument under W. VA. R. APP. P. 19. The Circuit Court committed reversible error by failing to apply the Bankruptcy Court's Orders. Instead, the Circuit Court impermissibly relitigated the issue of whether the Agreement is valid and enforceable, leading it to dismiss Count I of Kapitus's Verified Complaint. A Memorandum Decision is also appropriate for resolution of this appeal. While Kapitus requests reversal of the lower court's partial dismissal, the judicial doctrine of *res judicata* is straightforward, and its application in the instant action is clear. The reasons for reversal, are thus, explainable with a "concise statement."

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standards of Decision and Review.

Kapitus appeals the Circuit Court's dismissal of Count I of its Verified Complaint. In a lower court's analysis of a motion to dismiss, "the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and its allegations are to be taken as true." A motion to dismiss should only be granted where it is clear that "no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations." For this reason, motions to dismiss are viewed with disfavor," and this Court has "counsel[ed] lower courts to rarely grant such motions." 30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> W. VA. R. APP. P. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *John W. Lodge Distribution Co. v. Texaco*, 161 W. Va. 603, 605, 245 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> *Murphy v. Smallridge*, 196 W. Va. 35, 36, 468 S.E.2d 167, 168 (1996) (internal quote marks and citations omitted).

Ewing v. Bd. of Educ., 202 W. Va. 228, 235, 503 S.E.2d 541, 548 (1998).

"Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*." The same standard governing lower court review governs appellate review: *i.e.*, an appellate court must consider all facts in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and "not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of [its] claim which would entitle [it] to relief."

# B. The Circuit Court erred by failing to afford *res judicata* to the Bankruptcy Court's Orders.

1. The Circuit Court's refusal to afford preclusive effect to the Bankruptcy Court's Orders violated West Virginia law.

Although the parties extensively briefed and argued the point, the Circuit Court's order granting in part Defendants' motion to dismiss does not even *mention res judicata*. *A fortiori*, it failed to apply *res judicata* to the Bankruptcy Court's Orders. But the Bankruptcy Court's Orders had the full force and effect of the law, so they barred any further litigation on the issue of the validity of Kapitus's Proof of Claim—including the validity of the contract underlying Kapitus's Proof of Claim (or any other issue that might have been raised at the same time).

Under West Virginia law, res judicata applies when three conditions are met:

First, there must have been a final adjudication on the merits in the prior action by a court having jurisdiction of the proceedings. Second, the two actions must involve either the same parties or persons in privity with those same parties. Third, the cause of action identified for resolution in the subsequent proceeding either must be identical to the cause of action determined in the prior action or must be such that it could have been resolved, had it been presented, in the prior action.

Syl. pt. 4, Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc., 201 W. Va. 469, 498 S.E.2d 41 (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Syl. pt. 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick*, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Edwards v. Stark, 247 W. Va. 415, 880 S.E.2d 881, 886 (2022) (internal quotations and footnote omitted).

In the instant civil action, the Bankruptcy Court's Orders easily satisfy all three conditions.

First, the Bankruptcy Court's Orders were final adjudications on the merits by a court of competent jurisdiction on the validity of Kapitus's contract-based Proof of Claim. In fact, Respondents concede that the Bankruptcy Court's Orders were a final adjudication in previous briefing.<sup>33</sup> In any event, regardless of Timberline Utilities' concession, courts have repeatedly and definitively held that a bankruptcy court order allowing a proof of claim is a "final judgment" deserving of res judicata.<sup>34</sup> "Unquestionably, a federal court's judgment is binding upon a West Virginia state court."<sup>35</sup> The Circuit Court's decision, however, failed to give full faith and credit to the Bankruptcy Court's Orders.

Second, the instant civil action and the Bankruptcy Court proceedings involve the same parties.

Third, Kapitus's claim in the Bankruptcy Court requesting enforcement of the Agreement is *identical* to the cause of action in the instant case. The validity and enforceability of the Agreement are the central issues in Kapitus's breach of contract claim and the reasons that the

See Timberline Utilities' Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 139 at 5 (noting that "the Order of October 25, 2021, undoubtedly became [a] final order [at the December 15, 2021, hearing].").

See, e.g., Sampson, 667 F. Supp. 2d at 695 (citing EDP Med. Computer Sys., Inc. v. United States, 480 F.3d 621, 625 (2d Cir. 2007); Matter of Baudoin, 981 F.2d 736, 742 (5th Cir. 1993); Siegel v. Fed. Home Loan Mortgage Corp., 143 F.3d 525, 528–31 (9th Cir. 1998)); Matter of Chappell, 984 F.2d 775, 782 (7th Cir. 1993); see also In re Eads, 417 B.R. 728, 741 (Bankr. E.D. Tex. 2009) (stating explicitly that a "bankruptcy court's allowance or disallowance of a proof of claim is a final judgment") (citing Poonja v. Alleghany Props., 278 F.3d 890, 894 (9th Cir. 2002)).

Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Crystal Ridge Dev., Inc., 239 W. Va. 549, 558, 803 S.E.2d 519, 528 (2017) ("The rule that state courts must give binding effect to federal court proceedings is uncontroversial.") (citing Susan Bandes, Thomas D. Rowe, Jr., 18 MOORE'S FEDERAL PRACTICE § 133.10 (3rd ed. 2017)); Ronan E. Degnan, Federalized Res Judicata, 85 Yale L.J. 741, 744 (1976) (recognizing that there is a "clearly established rule that state courts must give full faith and credit to the proceedings of federal courts," the fact "[t]hat this is the rule is beyond doubt, and the state courts have generally accepted it") (emphasis added).

Circuit Court advanced for dismissing that claim. In ruling on Kapitus's Proof of Claim, the Bankruptcy Court already ruled on the validity of the Agreement, expressly holding that it valid and enforceable.<sup>36</sup>

Because all three conditions are satisfied, *res judicata* bars the prosecution of a lawsuit where the claims alleged therein have already been ruled upon by a court with jurisdiction to rule on those claims.<sup>37</sup> In this case, the Bankruptcy Court already ruled on whether the Agreement was valid and enforceable, so the issue should not have been relitigated in front of the Circuit Court.

But one searches the Circuit Court's order in vain for so much as a mention of *res judicata*. The reason is clear: the Circuit Court erroneously believed that it had the power to give Timberline Utilities a do-over, to view the Bankruptcy proceedings as nothing but a dress rehearsal, and to relitigate the entire issue of the validity of the Agreement. This ultimately allowed Timberline Utilities to misrepresent its ability to enter into the Agreement and CVPSD to keep Kapitus's substantial advance and walk away with both the cake and the ability to eat it, too—precisely what the Bankruptcy Court already ruled on. In fact, the only damaged party now is the only one that provided *substantial* value to Timberline Utilities—*i.e.*, Kapitus. Clearly the

\_\_\_

See generally Kapitus Servicing, Inc.'s Verified Compl., at ¶¶ 49–50, JA28–29.

See syl. pt. 2, Bison Ints., LLC v. Antero Res. Corp., 244 W. Va. 391, 398, 854 S.E.2d 211 (2020) ("An adjudication by a court having jurisdiction of the subject-matter and the parties is final and conclusive, not only as to the matters actually determined, but as to every other matter which the parties might have litigated as incident thereto and coming within the legitimate purview of the subject-matter of the action. It is not essential that the matter should have been formally put in issue in a former suit, but it is sufficient that the status of the suit was such that the parties might have had the matter disposed of on its merits. An erroneous ruling of the court will not prevent the matter from being res judicata.") (quotations, internal quotations, and citations omitted) (quoting syl. it. 1, Sayre's Adm'r v. Haprold, 33 W. Va. 553, 11 S.E. 16 (1890)).

Circuit Court believed that the Bankruptcy Court "got it wrong," but it had no legal authority to tear up the Bankruptcy Court's orders at all.

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