IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-69

ICA EFiled: Jun 04 2023 11:41AM EDT Transaction ID 70135032

KAPITUS SERVICING, INC., formerly known as COLONIAL FUNDING NETWORK, INC., an authorized servicing agent for First US Funding, Plaintiff/Petitioner

> Tucker County Circuit Court Business Division Civil Action No. 22-C-4 Circuit Judge Michael D. Lorensen

TIMBERLINE FOUR SEASONS UTILITIES, INC., and CANAAN VALLEY PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT, individually and, in its capacity as RECEIVER OF TIMBERLINE FOUR SEASONS UTILITIES, INC. Defendants/Respondents

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Martin P. Sheehan, Esq. Counsel of Record for Timberline Four Seasons Utilities, Inc.

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

D. Kapitus Had Notice and an Opportunity to Be Heard Before the PSC

However, Kapitus wants to quibble over whether it was a "formal party." Kapitus has suggested that it was not a formal party, and as a consequence, <u>res judicata</u> is not applicable to it. Respondents are not convinced that the inquiry into whether Kapitus was, or was not, a "formal party" in an <u>in rem</u> proceeding would be particularly useful. But since it is uncontested that Kapitus did receive notice, and was afforded an opportunity to participate before the PSC, there can be little doubt that the essential command of due process has been honored.

Binding Kapitus to an outcome where Kapitus enjoyed the benefits of due process is not unfair. That is the essence of the holding in <u>United States v. Truckee-Carson Irrigation District</u>, 463 U.S. 10 (1983). There the Supreme Court held that <u>res judicata</u> applied to what appears to have been an <u>in rem</u> proceeding involving scores of interested persons.

Having had notice,³ Kapitus did not participate before the PSC. The only inference is that Kapitus chose to absent itself from the PSC hearing. Non-participation before the PSC resulted in a failure by Kapitus to raise or advance the affirmative defense of <u>res judicata</u> in those proceedings.

E. Detour and Review of the Bankruptcy Proceedings

T4SUI filed for bankruptcy relief on March 21, 2021. It filed under what is now known as

³ Such notice was reasonably calculated to provide notice of an opportunity to be heard. Under all the circumstances the notice was constitutionally adequate. Jones v. Flowers, 547 U.S. 220 (2006). <u>See also, Hartwell v. Marquez</u>, 201 W.Va. 433, 498 S.E.2d 1 (1997).

Sub-chapter V of Chapter 11. Sub-chapter V (primarily codified as 11 U.S.C. § 1181-1195) is a relatively new reorganization sub-chapter of the Bankruptcy Code which pertains to smaller businesses. There are some streamlined procedures in such a case.

T4SUI obtained approval of the Circuit Court of Tucker County to file for bankruptcy relief. That approval was necessary because T4SUI had been placed in a receivership in the Circuit Court and those proceedings were on going. The bankruptcy proceedings were originally anticipated to have been a mechanism for prompt consideration and/or approval of a plan of reorganization that would simplify administration of utility services in Tucker County.

As ordinarily occurs, after filing for bankruptcy relief, creditors are given notice and invited to file a proof of claim. Allowed proofs of claims define the status of creditors within a bankruptcy case. Proofs of claim contribute to defining who can vote for or against a plan of reorganization. Proofs of claim define who will ultimately receive what value of assets in a confirmed bankruptcy case.

Kapitus filed a proof of claim alleging that it had sued T4SUI in Virginia, had obtained a default judgment, and was a creditor entitled to be paid. T4SUI objected to that claim and alleged under W. Va. Code § 24-2-12 that the contract which formed the basis for the claim was illegal on the grounds that it had not been approved by the PSC.

Initially, the Bankruptcy Court overruled that objection. The Bankruptcy Court held that the opportunity to litigate in Virginia meant that any defense, including the defense of illegality, had been determined adversely to T4SUI in Virginia when the judgment was rendered. T4SUI filed for reconsideration and asserted that there were separate defects in the jurisdiction of the Virginia Court.

First, there was a concern about who had been served with process. There was reason to believe

that the named agent for service of process on the West Virginia Secretary of State had not been served. More importantly, the existence of Receivership proceedings involving T4SUI in Tucker County meant that Tucker County had exclusive in rem jurisdiction and the Virginia Court order was of no effect.

The Bankruptcy Court did reconsider and held there was no jurisdiction in the underlying Virginia litigation, in reliance inter alia, on Palmer v. Texas, 212 U.S. 118, 129 (1909). Penn General <u>Casualty Co. v. Pennsylvania</u>, 294 U.S. 189, 195 (1935). That holding restored the opportunity to contest the proof of claim that had been filed by Kapitus in the Bankruptcy Court, and to properly raise the claim of illegality.

Before turning to that, it should be noted that along the way, T4SUI had filed a motion to join the PSC as a party to the bankruptcy case. It was thought that process might simplify confirmation, particularly under 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(6), a provision requiring approval of regulatory agencies like the PSC to certain aspects of a reorganization plan. That motion was never granted, but the PSC did monitor events in the bankruptcy case.

Ultimately, the PSC, aware of the allegations of illegality, filed a motion to lift the automatic stay to allow the PSC to investigate the claimed illegality, and to conduct such proceedings as it saw fit. That motion was granted on December 15, 2021.

Meanwhile various efforts were undertaken to attempt to resolve the objection to the proof of claim filed by Kapitus. None were successful. The Bankruptcy Court ultimately ruled as part of the order dated December 15, 2021 that the Motion to Reconsider again would be denied.

Kapitus relies on this order as providing some support for its contract claim. Shortly after this ruling was made, T4SUI voluntarily dismissed the bankruptcy case. At this point, all roads seemed to lead to the PSC. Illegality seemed to be a PSC concern. Paying any debt with assets of T4SUI was a PSC concern. Raising rates to generate monies to pay any debts was a PSC concern. Having the PSC do something, was the only option.

Under 11 U.S.C. § 349 dismissal causes much of what has occurred in a bankruptcy case to evaporate. T4SUI believes that is what occurred. Kapitus has contested this legal conclusion. Rather than ask this Court to wander into the nuances of the effect of a dismissal, T4SUI suggests simply that the affirmative defense of <u>res judicata</u>, assuming such a defense would have been available to Kapitus, was waived by the failure of Kapitus to appear and raise that defense before the PSC. The claim by Kapitus in the Circuit Court that any Bankruptcy Court ruling was entitled to <u>res judicata</u> effect had no support because that no such claim was raised before the PSC. The failure of Kapitus to raise the affirmative defense of res judicata defense before the PSC.

F. Hypothetical Arguments that Kapitus Could Have Made Before the PSC

If we speculate what would have occurred if Kapitus had appeared before the PSC, Kapitus might have argued, as it now attempts to do, that the Bankruptcy Court ruling on the Debtor's objection to a proof of claim filed by Kapitus was <u>res judicata</u>. But as a federal court the Bankruptcy Court could only have anticipated what the PSC would have done if the Purported Agreement had been timely presented to the PSC for approval.

Effectively, Kapitus would have had to argue that what the Bankruptcy Court anticipated the PSC would have done, somehow would have bound the PSC to do only what the Bankruptcy Court had anticipated what the PSC would do. Kapitus would have been arguing that <u>res judicata</u> required the PSC to approve a contract which had never been presented to the PSC for approval as statutorily

required. According to Kapitus the Bankruptcy Court ruling would have required the PSC to do what the PSC ultimately found to be incorrect and unwarranted, and approve a contract that was not in the public interest. Kapitus would have had to have claimed that the PSC, the primary regulator, had no authority to regulate, despite a statutory command to do so.

This is an argument that would have turned a variety of legal principles upside down. For example, in <u>Burford v. Sun Oil Co.</u>, 319 U.S. 315 (1943) the United States Supreme Court required federal courts to abstain when state law provided for a comprehensive regulatory approach to regulation of oil and gas production and conservation. Texas vested that authority in a specialized body, the Texas Railroad Commission, to perform fact finding and regulatory evaluation and policy making. Texas had restricted review of decisions of the Railroad Commission to one particular State district court. The Supreme Court noted that review of the Texas Railroad Commission was limited to grounds of "reasonableness" at a trial <u>de novo</u>. The Texas statute reflected these steps had been take to limit the possibility of inconsistent adjudications.

Preventing the federal courts from interfering with this comprehensive scheme caused the Supreme Court to find that abstention was the proper course for a federal court when faced with a legal issue arising in its diversity jurisdiction, or perhaps otherwise. The Supreme Court noted that federal review, at the Supreme Court, would exist on strictly federal issues, but that the deference owed to State decision makers otherwise warranted the federal court staying out of the mix. The WV PSC is no different than the Texas Railroad Commission. The PSC is vested with primary decision making pursuant to W.Va. Code § 24-2-12. Review of PSC decisions is limited to direct review by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. W.Va. Code § 24-5-1. In conducting such reviews, the West

Virginia Supreme Court uses a standard of review that involves substantial deference to the Commission. <u>Sierra Club v. Public Service Commission</u>, 241 W.Va. 600, 827 S.E.2d 224 (2019); and <u>City of Wheeling v. Public Service Commission</u>, 199 W.Va. 252, 483 S.E.2d 835 (1997); <u>Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Department</u>, 195 W.Va. 573, 583, 466 S.E.2d 424, 434 (1995); <u>Monongahela Power Co. v. Public Service Commission</u>, 166 W.Va. 423, 276 S.E.2d 179 (1981); <u>Chesapeake & Potomac Tel. Co. of W.Va. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W.Va.</u>, 171 W.Va. 494, 300 S.E.2d 607 (1982).

Would the PSC have reflexively deferred to the Bankruptcy Court in this situation? It would not have been required to do so. First, the PSC probably would have recognized that it had never been a creditor in the bankruptcy case of T4SUI. It was an observer, but it maintained its independence and opportunity to pass on matters within its primary jurisdiction. It did ask for relief from stay, so that it could pursue an independent examination.

Moreover, in <u>Blake v. Charleston Area Medical Center</u>, 201 W.Va. 469, 498 S.E.2d 41(1997), the Supreme Court said,

Notwithstanding this scrupulous assessment of the applicability of <u>res judicata</u> to a particular case, we reiterate our prior admonishment that, even though the requirements of <u>res judicata</u> may be satisfied, we do "not rigidly enforce [this doctrine] where to do so would plainly defeat the ends of Justice." <u>Gentry v. Farruggia</u>, 132 W.Va. 809, 811, 53 <u>S.E.2d 741</u>, <u>742 (1949)</u>. See also, White v. SWCC, 164 W.Va. at 291, 262 S.E.2d at 757 (same).

Id. at ___, 498 S.E.2d at 50. It is hard to believe that the PSC would have shucked its independent responsibility to pass on the validity of the Purported Agreement at issue here. The PSC did an investigation.

The PSC was aware from prior proceedings that led to T4SUI being placed in a receivership,

that prior management, the individuals who had purported to bind Timberline Four Seasons Resort Management, LLC and T4SUI, jointly, had to be ousted and replaced because of mismanagement and more. The PSC determined that monies which had been advanced by Kapitus and. or its principal, had not been advanced to T4SUI and that there was no business purpose in obligating T4SUI to this debt. These factual findings were investigated by the Staff of the PSC and presented to the independent hearing officer. He made findings to this effect. His conclusions were adopted by the Commission.

G. Judge Lorensen's Opinion

At the end of the day, in examining the Order of the PSC and the Order of the Bankruptcy Court, Judge Lorensen seems not to have explicitly ruled on <u>res judicata</u>. Instead, he determined that he should look more to the merits of the underlying orders each party advocated should be followed. The Judge conducted a review as the Supreme Court might have if there had been a direct appeal from the PSC by Kapitus.

While perhaps beyond his mandate, Judge Lorensen tried to find a just result in this procedurally complex situation.⁴ He did not leap into the principle of <u>res judicata</u>, but examined if the current controversy should be decided under that principle. He defined his responsibility to (1) to follow decisions of the Supreme Court; (2) and, based on a series of cases from that Court to defer to the decision making of the PSC.

⁴ In <u>Calcutt v. Federal Deposit Insurance Corp.</u>, 598 U.S. (No. 22-714) (Decided May 28, 2023) the United States Supreme Court reversed a decision of the Sixth Circuit affirming a ruling on grounds not addressed in the opinion of the agency whose ruling was being reviewed. The Supreme Court held that only grounds addressed by the agency, which had the statutory obligation to address such issues for the first time, could form a basis for decision. While not controlling here, this case reinforces the need for deference to agency decision-making.

In his analysis, Judge Lorensen noted that the Bankruptcy Court in its application of West Virginia law had not relied on the majority opinion in <u>Lockard v. Salem</u>, 127 W.Va. 237, 32 S.E.2d 568 (1944), but had instead found the dissenting opinion more applicable. Judge Lorensen was disturbed by that approach. He instead remained faithful to the majority holding, the simple idea that a contract requiring PSC approval and which had not been approved by the PSC was void. He found that the PSC analysis was sound and should provide the rule of decision.

Judge Lorensen held that Count I failed to state a claim on which relief could be granted because the Purported Agreement that formed the basis of Count I had actually been found by the PSC to be void.

In <u>Blake v. Charleston Area Medical Center</u>, 201 W.Va. 469 498 S.E.2d 41 (1997), the Supreme Court relied upon the Restatement (Second) Judgments, § 26. Sub-sections 26 (d) and (f) , recited with some approval in 46 Am.Jur.2d, Judgments, § 453 hold that where the earlier decision departs from clear statutory principles, and extraordinary reasons exist to overcome the policy of preclusion, preclusion is not required.

Those provisions seem to have been written with this case in mind. <u>Res judicata</u> is a well recognized and generally enforceable legal principle. But sometimes, when that principle would lead to an unjust result, that doctrine need not be followed. To the extent that a decision of a Bankruptcy Court might have been entitled to <u>res judicata</u> effect if it had been raised before the PSC, that principle would still not have required the PSC to do what the Bankruptcy Court "anticipated" the PSC would do. The PSC is the primary regulator by statute. Precedent of the Supreme Court of the United States as well as here in West Virginia, recognizes the PSC as the primary regulator. Nothing done in the Bankruptcy Court should be deemed to have foreclosed the primary regulator's opportunity to make such a

decision as it deemed appropriate.

That ruling should be affirmed.

H. Alternate Grounds to Affirm

In <u>Murphy v. Smallridge</u>, 196 W.Va. 35, 468 S.E.2d 167 (1996) Justice Cleckley, said that "An appellate court is not limited to the legal grounds relied upon by the circuit court, but it may affirm or reverse a decision on any independently sufficient ground that has adequate support." <u>Id</u>. at 36-37, 468 S.E.2d at 168-69. Petitioners simply note that had Judge Lorensen not reviewed the propriety of the PSC decision, before deciding to follow the PSC decision, principles of <u>res judicata</u> would have required the same result. As noted above, Kapitus had notice. The issue, the validity of the contract, and whether the contract should have been approved, were the same and involved the same object. <u>Blake v. Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc.</u>, 201 W.Va. 469, 498 S.E.2d 41 (1997). By failing to appear and assert the affirmative defense of <u>res judicata</u> before the PSC, Kapitus has waived that argument.

VI. Conclusion

Respondents ask that the ruling of the Circuit Court of Tucker County be affirmed.